#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUL 8 1903

ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD,	CLERK, SUBMINIO COURT  By Poputy Clark  O
Appellant,	
vs.	) CASE NO. 68,009
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	) _)

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DANIEL J. SCHAFER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32014
PHONE: 904/252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 9, 1983 Appellant ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD was indicted by a Volusia County Grand Jury on charges of first degree murder, sexual battery and robbery with a firearm.

(R1510) It was alleged that Appellant robbed, assaulted and murdered Ms. Brenda Rucker, an attendant at a gasoline station in Ormond Beach.

Prior to trial the defense made three motions in limine, one of which is relevant here. Defense counsel sought exclusion of evidence that Appellant committed the crime of "soliciting another to commit kidnapping and/or murder", so called "Williams Rule" evidence. (R1600-1601) The motion was not ruled upon prior to trial.

The case was tried by jury before the Honorable Kim C. Hammond, Circuit Judge, beginning October 28, 1985. (R1-1500)

During trial Appellant again objected to the "Williams Rule" testimony of Earnest Johnson. (R927) The testimony was proffered and after hearing argument from counsel, Judge Hammond allowed the jury to hear the evidence. (R928-957)

The trial court also allowed testimony concerning

Appellant's escape from custody prior to trial. (R1161-1248)

During the defense presentation of evidence the state objected when Appellant sought to introduce a police "BOLO" description of a man spotted near the crime scene. (R1306-1311) The court sustained the objection. (R1312)

At the close of the State's case and again at the close of all evidence, Appellant moved for judgment of acquittal on all counts. The motions were denied. (R1252-1261,1319)

Following deliberation the jury found Appellant guilty of first degree murder and sexual battery, but not guilty of armed robbery. (R1425-1426)

On November 7, 1985 the capital sentencing phase of the trial took place before the same judge and jury. (R1431-1500)

By a ten to two (10-2) vote the jury recommended the death sentence. (R1493) Five days later Judge Hammond sentenced Appellant to death for murder, and life in prison for sexual battery. (R1502-1507)

Timely Notice of Appeal was filed, Appellant was adjudicated insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed for purposes of appeal. (R1671-1672)

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### **GUILT PHASE**

On February 14, 1982, the date of the year's Daytona 500 auto race, Ms. Brenda Rucker disappeared from the Fina gas station where she worked. She was last seen alive at the station at around 6:17 a.m. that morning. (R1265) By 6:27 a.m. the police had received a call because the station was open but no employee was present. (R722) The manager was called to the scene and identified Ms. Rucker as the person scheduled to work. (R728) Her car and purse were found at the station and the cash register drawer was found open. (R728-729)

The following day Brenda Rucker's body was found in a wooded area 6.5 miles from the Fina station. An autopsy showed she had been shot at least eight (8) times. The medical examiner identified two bullet entrance wounds in the head, two in the torso, one in the right arm, two in the right leg and one in the left leg. (R765-767,774) The immediate cause of death was one of the two chest wounds, though the head wounds were potentially fatal. (R770) The body was fully clothed at the time of the shooting and when found. (R764-765) The medical examiner believed Ms. Rucker had been sexually assaulted, based on the presence of seminal fluid in the body, and superficial lacerations and blood around the arms. (R768-769)

Roy Swafford arrived in Daytona Beach Saturday, the day before the shooting with four friends from Nashville. Swafford, Roger Harper, Carl Johnson, Ricky Johnson and Chan Hirtle were in town for the Daytona 500 race. (R796) They rented space for a

tent at Tomoka State Park. (R798) They went to the beach, to a bar called the Shingle Shack, and back to camp. (R854) Ricky Johnson, Chan Hirtle and Swafford went drinking again for a while and returned to their campsite. (R801,854) Later Swafford took the car and went out leaving the other four at camp. He arrived back at the Shingle Shack alone at about 1:00 a.m. Saturday night/Sunday morning to meet Patricia Atwell. (R915) He waited until Ms. Atwell got off work at 3:00 a.m., then the two of them spent the rest of the night together at a friend's (R915-916) Swafford dropped Atwell off back at the Shingle Shack at about 6:00 a.m. (R916-917) There is no testimony from Ms. Atwell or any other witness that Roy Swafford had any alcoholic drink after midnight Saturday night. Swafford's friends said he got back to their campground around daybreak (R803,845,851,856) Chan Hirtle thought Swafford Sunday morning. may have returned as early as 6:00 a.m. or 6:30 a.m. (R862-863)It was stipulated that the sun rose at 7:04 a.m. that morning in Daytona. (R1249)

Sunday evening after the race Swafford and his friends returned to the Shingle Shack. (R807,858) Chan Hirtle went outside to attempt to buy drugs from some black people. (R858) The blacks were about to leave having taken Hirtle's money and left him empty handed, when Swafford came outside. (R858) According to Hirtle and Roger Harper, Swafford pulled a gun and got Hirtle's money back. (R807-811,859) Later the black people returned with the police, Swafford and his friends were arrested and a gun was seized which was later identified through balistics

testimony as the murder weapon. Swafford's alleged possession of the murder weapon was the only direct link between Swafford and the Rucker shooting. The testimony linking Swafford to the gun was conflicting.

Chan Hirtle and Roger Harper saw Swafford pull a gun on the black drug dealers. (R807,859) Harper saw Swafford put a gun back in his jacket pocket, while Hirtle thought he returned it to his pants. (R812,960)

Clark Griswold was a bouncer at the Shingle Shack on the date in question. (R1041) He "knew of" the incident outside and knew there was a gun involved. (R1042) A man (later identified by police witnesses as Swafford) came in and sat down following the incident. (R1043) Griswold was outside when the police arrived and told them "the fellow was inside." (R1043-1044) When Griswold went in to get him, Swafford was "in a state of panic" and asked to use the restroom. (R1044) Griswold let him use the restroom apparently believing (but not seeing) that Swafford still had a gun and would leave it there. (R1044-1045) Swafford came out in 30 or 45 seconds. Griswold asked someone to watch the restroom and not allow anyone in while he took Swafford outside. (R1045) He turned Swafford over to the police and said "the weapon's inside and I can get that too". Griswold then went back inside and allegedly found a gun in the trash can of the men's room. (R1045) He brought it outside and handed it to a police officer. (R1046)

Frank Iocco, a Daytona Beach Police Officer, said Griswold came outside <u>first</u> with a gun, then went back inside with Officer Vaughn to get Swafford. (R1062)

Officer William Vaughn agrees with Iocco that Griswold brought a gun outside, but says that he thinks Swafford was already outside the bar. (R1068-1070)

Karen Sarniak, a Shingle Shack waitress, gave a fourth version of the recovery of a gun. She says she and Swafford went together into the <u>ladies</u>' room and she saw Swafford place a gun into the trash can. (R1093-1094) Then "as far as she remembers" a police officer came in the ladies' room and personally retrieved a gun. (R1100)

Officer Vaughn testified that only one gun was seized during the incident. (R1156) Vaughn gave the gun to Officer Grey Cooper who recorded the serial number and submitted it to the property room. (R1076)

Over one year after the murder of Brenda Rucker, Roger Harper was in prison and found out he had Hodgkins Disease.

(R793) He "found out through rumors that Roy Swafford might have done something here in Daytona Beach" and contacted authorities.

(R794) Based on Harper's information the gun seized at the Shingle Shack incident was tested and found to be the weapon that killed Brenda Rucker. (R1127,1142)

Over strenuous defense objections the trial court allowed the jury to hear testimony from Ernest Johnson concerning an incident that occurred in Nashville, Tennessee about two months after Brenda Rucker's murder. Ernest Johnston met Roy Swafford

at "the fairgrounds speedway". (R961) They went to Swafford's brother's house and drank beer for a while. (R962) When they left the house Swafford said something about going to get some women. (R962) They got in Swafford's car, got a six-pack of beer and started riding. (R963) Swafford again asked if Johnson wanted to "get a girl" and Johnson said yes. Johnson testified further, as follows:

So, as we was driving, I said, you know, where are you going to get her at. He said, I'll get her. He said -- he said, we'll get one and we'll do anything we want to to her. And he said, you won't have to worry about it because we won't get caught.

So, I said, how are you going to do that. And he said, we'll do anything we want to and I'll shoot her.

\* \* \*

So, he said if -- you know, he said that he'd get rid of her, he'd waste her, and he said, I'll shoot her in the head.

I said, man, you're crazy. he said, no, I'll shoot her in the head twice and I'll make damn good and sure that she's, you know, she's dead. He said, there won't be no witnesses.

So, I asked him, I said, man, don't -- you know, don't that bother you. And he said, it does for a while, you know, you just get used to it.

(R963-964)

Johnson said he and Swafford went as far as to pick out a woman in a parking lot and Swafford pulled a gun from under the seat or out of the glove box. (R964-965) Johnson backed out when he saw a child restraint seat in the woman's car. (R965)

The jury also heard testimony from four witnesses concerning an escape attempt made by Swafford and Michael Anderson on September 11, 1985.

Bobby Lambert of the Volusia County Sheriff's Officer was bringing prisoners back from court in a county vehicle on the date in question. Swafford had appeared for a pretrial conference. (R1162) Lambert arrived back at the jail with six prisoners cuffed two by two. (R1163) When Swafford and Anderson broke and ran, Lambert realized they were not handcuffed together. (R1164) Lambert had to secure the other prisoners so he could not give chase, but Officer Jacob Ehrhart saw the two men driving away with a female companion and gave chase. (R1188-1189) Ehrhart cornered the vehicle near Fish Memorial Hospital and the two escapees got out and went into the hospital. (R1189-1190)

Robert Nolin, a reporter for the Daytona Beach News

Journal, received a call from Swafford and Anderson while the two
men were holed up on the third floor of the hospital. (R1224)

The men said they had two guns. (R1227) They seemed primarily
interested in the fate of their female accomplice Kathy, and were
attempting to negotiate immunity from prosecution for her.

(R1224-1226) Twice during the conversation with Nolin, the
caller identifying himself as Roy said "we're both murderers."

(R1228) After a few hours Swafford and Anderson surrendered to
police.

Five days later Swafford called Nolin again from jail.

He said he regretted the escape incident and was happy no one was hurt. (R1230) He asked Nolin to make clear in future newspaper

stories that he professed his innocence in the Rucker murder case. He said "I'm accused of killing somebody, I'm innocent until proven guilty." But he confirmed the accuracy of the "we're both murderers" quote. (R1231-1232)

The defense called two witnesses. Paul Seiler was perhaps the last witness to see Brenda Rucker alive. He worked until 6:00 a.m. at a local restaurant on the date in question. (R1263) At about 6:17 he was on his motorcycle stopped at a traffic light in front of the Fina station. (R1265) young lady behind the counter, then noticed that she walked outside followed by a man in a flannel shirt. (R1265) got in a car and headed north. (R1267) Seiler could not say whether the woman was with him. Later in the day Seiler heard the news of Ms. Rucker's disappearance and contacted the police. (R1271) He gave a description to the police from which he and an officer constructed two identi-kit photos. (R1267-1269) Seiler remembered describing the individual as a white male, late twenties/early thirties, 160 to 170 pounds, 5'10" to 6' tall, with brown hair with a reddish tint, wearing a long sleeve blue or brown flannel shirt and bluejeans. (R1269) Seiler said the police never suggested any description to him and that the identi-kit pictures were made solely from his information. But Seiler said he only glanced at the individual at the Fina station and didn't know how close his description was to reality. (R1271) When questioned about the very detailed description noted in police reports Seiler didn't recall giving much of the information and said "I really don't know where I

could even come up with something like that because I didn't get that good of a look at him." (R1280)

The Court refused to allow into evidence the detailed description put out in a police "BOLO" based on Seiler's information. (R1306-1313) Apparently the description Seiler gave did not match the defendant, Roy Swafford. (R1361-1362,1391-1392)

### PENALTY PHASE

The State called two witnesses at the penalty phase to recount an incident which occurred June 19, 1982. Warren Milner and his family were spending a weekend at Panama City Beach. (R1440) As Milner and his son Heath were heading back to their motorhome from the beach they came upon two men identified as Roger Harper and Roy Swafford burglarizing the trailer. When Milner tried to stop them Swafford picked up Milner's shot gun and apparently was trying to figure out how to use it. Milner grabbed the shotgun and knocked Swafford down. Harper then got into the fight and as the two men struggled with Milner the shotgun went off tearing a hole in the trailer. Swafford then told Harper to get him his gun "and that (R1444)he was going to teach this mother fucking son of a bitch a (R1444) Swafford then shot Milner in the face and in the hip. (R1445) Swafford was convicted of burglary with an assault and sentenced to thirty years in prison.

The State also introduced into evidence copies of six certified criminal convictions against Swafford. (R1447-1451)

The defense called no witnesses at the penalty phase. It was stipulated that Swafford's father would have testified were he able, that Roy had achieved the rank of Eagle Scout in the Boy Scouts of America. (R1459)

Following deliberations the jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of ten to two. (R1493) The trial court, in an order issued five days later, accepted the recommendation and

sentenced Appellant to death for the first degree murder conviction. The judge stated his findings of fact as follows:

On November 6, 1985, in Daytona Beach, Florida, the Defendant, ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD, was found guilty of First Degree Murder in violation of F.S. §782.04. An advisory opinion recommending the imposition of the death penalty was returned the following day by the Jury. Upon considering the recommendations and the requisite aggravating and mitigating circumstances, this Court sentenced the Defendant to death on the 12th day of November, 1985.

- 1. The facts proven beyond a reasonable doubt in the issue of aggravating circumstances are as follows:
- 1. The defendant has been previously convicted of a felony involving the use of threat or violence to a person in that on the 10th day of January, 1983, the Defendant was convicted of Burglary with Assault and was sentenced to thirty (30) years with the Department of Corrections in Florida. Furthermore, testimony was heard that in the beforementioned burglary with assault, the Defendant shot a victim in the face and hip with a .38 caliber revolver.
- 2. The capital felony committed by the Defendant in this case was committed while he was engaged in the commission of a crime of sexual battery. Testimony elicited at the trial confirmed the the victim, Brenda Rucker, was vaginally and/or anully [sic] sexually battered as charged in the indictment.
- 3. The crime committed by the Defendant was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing lawful arrest. One of the factors identifying the Defendant in this case as the murderer was that he believed he could avoid arrest by shooting his victims.
- 4. The crime for which the Defendant was convicted was especially

wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel. The Defendant carried the victim, a Brenda Rucker, away from the place of her employment to an isolated spot in Volusia County, sexually battered her vaginally and/or anully [sic], and then proceeded to shoot her at least nine (9) times in and about her person. Wounds were found on her about her legs, abdomen, chest and head.

- 5. The crime for which the Defendant was convicted was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. The evidence supports the finding that the Defendant was of a state of mind that he believed that he could seize a female and do what he wished to her and shoot her twice in the head to eliminate any witnesses. It also was proven that not only did the Defendant empty his firearm into the victim one time, but he would have had to reload his five-shot revolver again and shooting her while she was completely helpless.
- II. The aggravating circumstances not supported by the facts in this case are:
- 1. There is no evidence that the capital felony was committed by a person under sentence or of imprisonment.
- 2. There is no evidence that the Defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons.
- 3. The capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain.
- 4. That the capital felony was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of any governmental function or enforcement of laws.
- III. The following mitigating circumstance is found to exist by this court is:
- 1. The Court accepts as a fact that the Defendant was an Eagle Scout and fully appreciates the efforts required to achieve such an honor.

- IV. The following mitigating circumstances are found not to exist in this case:
- 1. No evidence exists supporting circumstances of lack of significant history of criminal prior activity exists. In fact, the evidence is overwhelming to the contrary.
- 2. There is no evidence to support the finding of a mitigating circumstance of the Defendant being under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance.
- 3. There is no evidence to support a finding that the victim was a party to the conduct or consented to the act.
- 4. There is no evidence to support a mitigating circumstance that the Defendant was an accomplice in a capital felony committed by another person and his participation was relatively minor, in fact, the evidence only supports the conclusion that the Defendant was the sole planner and perpetrator of the crimes involved.
- 5. There is no evidence to support a finding of a mitigating circumstance that the Defendant acted under extreme duress or dominance of another person.
- 6. There is no evidence to support the mitigating circumstance that the Defendant lacked capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct nor was he impaired in such a way as to prevent him from conforming to the requirements of the law.
- 7. The Defendant's age at the time of the commission of the crime was thirty-five (35) and the Court does not consider this a mitigating circumstance.

#### SUMMARY

The Court finds five (5) aggravating circumstances exist and only one (1) mitigating factor has been established. Not only do the aggravating

factors numerically outweigh the mitigating factors, but the aggravating factors are of far more weight that the fact that the Defendant was an Eagle Scout. The mitigating factor does demonstrate that the Defendant, at some point in his life, had training and supervision that should have led him to become a lawful contributing citizen. Nevertheless, the Defendant has chosen to pursue a life of crime and has sunk so low that he has brutally battered and murdered a woman. This Court is mindful of the jury's recommendation of death. After carefully reviewing the events as did the jury, the Court finds the imposition of death to be warranted under Florida law.

(R1617-1619)

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: Over objection the state was allowed to present the testimony of Ernest Johnson concerning a criminal episode that occurred in Nashville, Tennessee. The testimony was allowed in as "Williams Rule" evidence to prove identity. This was error because the Nashville incident and the Rucker murder share no unusual similarities. Without unusual similarities evidence of other crimes merely proves propensity or bad character and is therefore inadmissible.

POINT II: The trial court sustained a state objection when the defense attempted to offer into evidence a police "BOLO" description of a man seen with Brenda Rucker the morning of her death. This evidence was crucial to the defense case and should have been admitted under the "identification" exclusion from the hearsay rule. Section 90.801(2)(c), Florida Statutes (1985). The description, given to police on the day of the murder, was inherently more reliable than the witness' in-court testimony three years after the fact and should have been admitted.

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