IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

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

POINT FOUR: Appellant did not present his claims concerning the constitutionality of the death penalty statute to the trial court and has therefore waived consideration of the issues on appeal. He fails to point out any support in the record for his laundry list of alleged infirmities. Each claim has been rejected many times and no reason to revisit them has been offered.

POINT ONE

THE TESTIMONY OF ERNEST JOHNSON WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED UNDER EITHER OF TWO THEORIES: AS SIMILAR FACT EVIDENCE OR AS AN ADMISSION OF GUILT.

During the state's case, Ernest Johnson testified over defense objection to a conversation between Johnson and Swafford that occurred in Nashville a few months after Brenda Rucker's murder (R 960-971). This testimony was admitted under two separate theories of admissibility, as similar fact evidence and as an admission of guilt. §§90.404 (2)(a), 90.803 (18) Fla. Stat. (1985) (R 951-955). Appellee contends that the pervasive similarities in the scenario related by Johnson and the Rucker murder demonstrate a modus operandi such that the testimony is admissible to prove identity under the Williams rule. Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla.), cert denied 361 U.S. 847, 80 S.Ct. 102, 4 L.Ed.2d 86 (1959). However, even if this honorable Court finds that the similarities between the two events does not establish a modus operandi, nevertheless, the testimony was admissible to clarify Swafford's admission that "you get used to" abducting, raping and murdering young women.

Johnson testified that in April or May, 1982, he met Swafford at a car race at the fairgrounds (R 961). After the race, they went to Swafford's brother's house and drank beer (R 962). Swafford and Johnson left the house in Swafford's car (R 962). Swafford suggested that they "go get a girl" (R 963). Johnson asked where he was going to get a girl, to which Swafford replied, ". . . I'll get her. . . You won't have to worry about

nothing. . . [W]e'll get one and we'll do anything we want to her. . .we won't get caught. . .(because) I'll shoot her in the head twice and I'll make damn good and sure that . . .she's dead. . . [T]here won't be any witnesses." (R 963-964). The object of seizing the woman was for sexual purposes(R 1563).

The two men then sat in a grocery store parking lot, watched several women come and go, and Swafford selected a victim (R 964). Swafford directed Johnson to drive up next to the woman, and Swafford produced a pistol (R 964-965). Johnson, realizing that Swafford was serious, saw a baby carrier in the woman's car and insisted they abandon Swafford's plan (R 965). Swafford still wanted to abduct the woman, but Johnson insisted he wanted no part in it (R 965). As the men drove away, Johnson asked how someone could do something like that and Swafford responded, "you just get used to it". (R 965).

Appellee contends that the murder in this case and the crime related by Johnson are so similar that a unique modus operandi is established, identifying Swafford as Brenda Rucker's murderer. The similarities can be summarized as follows:

Johnson's testimony

1. met at racetrack, occurred right after a car race
2. April or May, 1982
3. 1:30 to 2:00 A.M.²

Rucker Murder

1. occurred just before a car race
2. February 14, 1982
3. 6:15 A.M.

²Appellant incorrectly states that the time was "afternoon" (AB 20,24) (R 968).

Johnson's testimony cont'd

4. riding in a car when plan proposed to abduct woman in car

5. victim was a young female

6. object was sexual
(R 963, 1543)

7. avoid identification and/or capture by "shooting her twice in the head to make sure she's dead."

8. pistol/handgun used

9. victim selected from food store parking lot

10. alcohol used that day, into evening

Rucker murder

4. Rucker was abducted, transported 6.5 miles; Swafford left Atwell driving towards scene of crime.

5. victim was a young female

6. victim sexually battered

7. shot twice in head as well as front, back of body, insuring death

8. .38 Smith and Wesson handgun used

9. victim abducted from gas/food store

10. Swafford drank at the Shingle Shack from about 6 p.m. to 1 a.m.

Appellant contends that none of these similarities are unusual enough to establish a modus operandi. Perhaps in the course of human behavior, no single fact is unusual, but when taken together, the abduction by car, sexual battery and murder with a pistol of a young girl in the early morning hour, is not usual behavior. The events must be considered as a whole to determine similarity. Chandler v. State, infra.

The dissimilarities between the two incidents, including the location, the presence of another person, and the fact that one plan was completed, ". . . suggest differences in the opportunities with which (Swafford) was faced rather than significant differences in modus operandi as in Drake [v. State],

400 So.2d 1217 (Fla. 1981)]." Chandler v. State, 442 So.2d 171, 173 (Fla. 1983). In Chandler, the prior incident occurred seven years before the murder, in Texas, and did not result in death. Despite these differences, this honorable Court concluded that the crimes were similar and the testimony admissible as similar fact evidence. The fact that one was a murder and the other was not is not dispositive. See Mason v. State, 438 So.2d 374 (Fla. 1983), Randolph v. State, 463 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1984), Oats v. State, 446 So.2d 90 (Fla. 1984). This difference can also be explained by the fact that Johnson, not Swafford, insisted that the plan be abandoned. Even after Johnson saw the child restraint seat, Swafford said, "Let's go. Let's go do it." (R 965). The fact that Swafford invited Johnson along could indicate that Swafford was getting bolder and more confident that he would not be caught.

Appellee also relies upon Justus v. State, 438 So.2d 358 (Fla. 1983), to establish that Johnson's testimony is admissible as similar fact evidence. In Justus, the victim was abducted from a store parking lot, sexually battered and shot in the head. The next day in Georgia, the same scenario was repeated. This Court held that the Georgia murder was relevant to show identity and lack of mistake. Id. at 364. The time factor, a few months versus the next day is not a significant difference. See Chandler v. State, supra. The points of similarity between these two events ". . . have some special character (and are) so unusual as to point to the defendant." Drake v. State, 400 So.2d at 1219. This pervasive similarity distinguishes this case from

Drake and Peek v. State, 488 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1986). Johnson's testimony was extremely brief; it is not suggested that it became a feature of the trial. Williams v. State, 117 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1960).

Even if this evidence should not have been admitted as similar fact evidence, it is nonetheless admissible as an admission of guilt. The trial court accepted the testimony for this purpose, as an admission (R 951-955). The trial court's rulings on the admissibility of evidence are presumptively correct and should not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. Booker v. State, 397 So.2d 910 (Fla. 1981); Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981). Despite the assumption of prejudicial error for improperly admitted similar fact evidence, a judgment and sentence should be reversed only if the error is harmful. §924.33 Fla. Stat. (1985), Straight v. State, 397 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1981). The fact that Johnson's testimony is admissible upon the independent ground that it is an admission makes any error harmless. Analysis of whether this testimony is Williams rule evidence is unnecessary since it is admissible for another purpose. See, King v. State, 436 So.2d 50 (Fla. 1983).

Appellant would separate the final statement, "you get used to it" from the events immediately preceding the statement. However, the events related by Johnson are relevant to explain what "it" refers to, the seizing of a young woman for sexual purposes, then killing her to avoid detection. The testimony was admissible ". . .to explain the context of an incriminating admission; consequently, its admission at trial was not error."

Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194, 196 (Fla. 1985). The entire scenario related by Johnson was admissible to explain the context of the admission that "you get used to it". Indeed, without placing the admission in context thereby demonstrating the relevance to this case, reversible error could have occurred. Jackson v. State, 451 So.2d 458 (Fla. 1984).

Appellee contends that the legal issue presented herein is exactly the same as an issue this Court faced in Waterhouse v. State, 429 So.2d 301 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 977, 104 S.Ct. 415, 78 L.Ed.2d 352 (1984). In Waterhouse, the murder victim had been sexually battered ". . . by the insertion of a large object. . ." in the rectum. Id. at 303. At trial, a cellmate testified that after Waterhouse's arrest, he committed or attempted to commit sexual battery on another inmate. After the incident, Waterhouse said, "I wonder how he'd like a Coke bottle up his ass like I gave her." This Court explained:

The relevance of his admission lies in its connection to the medical examiner's testimony that the victim's rectal lacerations were consistent with the insertion of an object such as a Coke bottle. The statement was therefore relevant and the testimony was admissible to prove the context in which the statement was made. The ruling was not error. Id. at 306.

Even though the testimony described an unrelated and possibly incomplete criminal act, it was ". . . relevant because it included, and explained the context of, an incriminating admission made by appellant." Id. at 306. In Waterhouse, as here, the incriminating admission did not specify the victim; in the Waterhouse admission there was not even a suggestion of

death. Appellee submits that the specificity of the admission, or lack thereof, is a matter of weight and not admissibility. The whole statement containing the admission must be received in evidence. Bennett v. State, 96 Fla. 237, 118 So. 18 (1928).

When testimony is relevant to a material fact in issue, it is admissible despite the fact that it involves other criminal conduct. See, King v. State, supra, Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1983). Admissions are direct evidence of guilt, and so are relevant and admissible. Michael v. State, 437 So.2d 138 (Fla. 1983). The trial court correctly allowed the testimony of Ernest Johnson to be admitted into evidence. There was no abuse of discretion. Johnson's entire testimony was relevant to prove the context of an incriminating admission. The ruling was not error.

Assuming arguendo that it was error to admit this testimony under both theories, nonetheless, any error is harmless. Appellee contends that there was sufficient evidence without this testimony to establish guilt, and it did not affect the verdict, beyond a reasonable doubt. There were other admissions relevant to show Swafford's guilt. The fact that appellant escaped from jail is unquestionably relevant to show his guilty conscience. Mackiewicz v. State, 114 So.2d 684 (Fla. 1959), cert. denied, 362 U.S. 965, 80 S.Ct. 883, 4 L.Ed.2d 878 (1960); Washington v. State, 432 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1983); Kokal v. State, 11 F.L.W. 348 (Fla. July 17, 1986). All defense objections on this issue were sustained; the defense conceded that the escape itself was admissible evidence (R 1171-1176). Similarly, a voluntary

statement to a news reporter during the escape that "we're both murderers" is a conscious admission of guilt.

In addition to the direct evidence in the form of admissions, there was substantial circumstantial evidence establishing that appellant was guilty. Swafford's proximity to the scene of the crime was indisputable. He was seen driving north on Ridgewood Avenue (U.S. 1) at the time of the murder. Despite his argument to the contrary, the description given by Paul Seiler of a man leading a woman out of the Fina station could be the appellant (R 1262-1265, 1269, 1558). The traffic was very light, almost nonexistent, and appellant's route necessarily passed the Fina station. The body was found just over a mile from his campsite. Most important is his possession of the gun that was positively established to be the murder weapon, just sixteen hours after the murder (R 811, 814, 848, 1094). No explanation for these circumstances that is consistent with innocence has ever been suggested. See, Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1982).

Appellee relies upon Waterhouse and the other authorities cited for the proposition that Ernest Johnson's entire testimony was admissible to explain the context of an incriminating admission. It was not error to admit this relevant and probative evidence. Appellant has failed to establish a palpable abuse of discretion in the admission of this testimony.

POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY REFUSED TO ADMIT TESTIMONY FROM LT. BUSHDID CONCERNING A BOLO DESCRIPTION BECAUSE SEILER'S CREDIBILITY WAS NOT IMPEACHED TO ALLOW ADMISSION OF A PRIOR CONSISTENT STATEMENT AND BUSHDID'S TESTIMONY WAS INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY.

The defense presented testimony from Paul Seiler to support their claim of misidentification. Seiler drove home from work on Sunday morning, February 14, 1982 (R 1262-1263). He stopped at a traffic light by the Fina station at 6:18 a.m. (R 1264-1265). There was no other traffic (R 1265). Seiler saw a man and a woman in the Fina station. The woman walked from behind the counter and out the door with the man behind her (R 1265). The man got in a car and drove away. He said the car was a 1975 Monte Carlo, but on cross examination, agreed that it could have been a 1971 Impala (R 1266, 1286). Seiler described the white man as being in his late 20's to early 30's, 160 to 170 pounds, 5'10" to 6'0", with brown hair (R 1269). He also described his clothing. The police report from the Shingle Shack arrest sixteen hours after the murder described Swafford as a 34 year old white male, 165 pounds, 5'8" tall, with brown hair (R 1558).

The question that immediately comes to mind is why didn't the state call Paul Seiler as a witness? Swafford generally fits this description. At one point during the state's case, the prosecutor tried to call Seiler as a court witness, indicating that he did not want to vouch for Seiler's credibility (R 737-738). One possible explanation apparent from the record is that Seiler called the police on several occasions to report sightings

of the assailant which proved to be mistaken (R 1283). Appellee contends that the defense called Seiler not so much because the description he gave was of someone else, but because the state didn't call him as a witness. This defense is like that of an octopus, a cloud of ink to hide behind quickly dissipates. In any event, the end result is that Seiler did testify, and gave his description of the man that abducted the victim.

In an effort "to show that the police took him seriously" the defense then called Lieutenant Bushdid of the Ormond Beach Police Department (R 1296). The proffered testimony what that based on Seiler's description, Bushdid put out a "be on the lookout" or BOLO bulletin. (R 1294-1295). The description was exactly the same as the description Seiler testified to, with the single additional factor that the assailant had a full beard with a reddish tint (R 1295). Swafford had a moustache (R 1588). The state objected to the testimony from Bushdid concerning the BOLO bulletin on the basis of relevance and hearsay. The court sustained the objection, and this ruling is alleged to be error.

Appellant relies upon State v. Freber, 366 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1978) to support his contention that this evidence was erroneously excluded. In Freber, the police officer was permitted to testify to the identification of Freber by the victim in a live lineup. The victim's identification at trial was tentative. In Freber, the police officer witnessed a live line up, and testified to an observable identification, "that's the man who robbed me". This extrajudicial identification is an exception to the hearsay rule. Here, the situation is very

different. Seiler's testimony was not impeached in any way, yet the defense sought to corroborate his testimony by showing that he had made a prior consistent statement to the police. Bushdid's testimony merely echoed Seiler's testimony that Seiler saw a man he described at the scene of the murder. This is classic hearsay. Bushdid's issuance of a BOLO bulletin in no way validates Seiler's description. Appellee relies upon Hendrieth v. State, 483 So.2d 768 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), to establish that it was proper to exclude this evidence.

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